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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

There are no related cases.



JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Merit Systems Protection Board had jurisdiction to entertain

Appellant Chambers IRA and removal action appeals pursuant to 5 U.S.C.

§§ 7701, 7513(d), 1221, and 2302. This Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to

review the final decision issued by the Merit Systems Protection Board in

this case pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 7703.

I1

II1

v

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the Board and AJ decisions to sustain Agency charges 2, 3, 5 and 6
against Appellant Chambers were contrary to law, arbitrary and unsupported
by substantial evidence.

Whether the Board and AJ decisions to sustain the penalty of removal were
contrary to law, arbitrary and unsupported by substantial evidence.

Whether the Board and AJ's holding that the admitted Agency failed to
provide Appellant notice and an opportunity to respond to the extensive ex
parte communications the proposing official and other Agency personnel
had with the final Agency decision maker was not a violation of Appellant
Chambers’ due process and statutory rights recognized in Stone v. Federal
Deposit Insurance Corp., 179 F.3d 1368 (Fed. Cir. 1999) and Cleveland
Board Of Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985), was contrary to
law, arbitrary and not supported by substantial evidence.

Whether the Board and AlJ's holding that the undisputed Agency’s
concealment from Appellant of the findings of fact made by the final
Agency decision-maker did not violate constitutional and statutory
mandates, including 5 U.S.C. § 7513(b), 5 C.F.R. § 752.404(b), 5 C.F.R. §
1201.25, and the Constitution’s Fifth Amendment, was contrary to law,
arbitrary and not supported by substantial evidence.



VI

VII

VIII

IX

Whether Appellant Chambers’ disclosures to the media, Congress, and
Agency officials of an substantial and specific danger to the public in federal
parks and parkways, and her disclosure of a substantial and specific danger
of destruction by terrorists of one or more of the “icon” national monuments,
were disclosures protected by the Whistleblower Protection Act (WPA).

Whether Appellant’s disclosures were contributing factors in the Agency
removal action and other actions taken against her.

Whether the Agency failed to established by clear and convincing evidence
that it would have removed Chief Chambers absent her protected disclosures
to the Washington Post, Congress, and Agency officials

Whether the Board and AJ's holding that the Department of Interior
(Agency) did not engage in a prohibited personnel practice in violation of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(b)(12) and 5 U.S.C. § 7211 when it restricted Ms. Chambers’
communications with Congress, placed Ms. Chambers on administrative
leave, and removed Ms. Chambers’ from her position and the federal service
because she communicated with Congress was contrary to law, arbitrary and
not supported by substantial evidence.

Whether the AJ made numerous procedural errors that went uncorrected by
the Board that denied Appellant due process and were contrary to law and
arbitrary.



I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Merit Systems Board (MSPB). A
majority of the Board affirmed the decision of the Administrative Judge (AJ). One
member dissented. The AJ sustained four of six of the Department of Interiors
charges of misconduct against Petitioner Teresa Chambers and upheld the agency’s

decision to remove Chambers from her position.

II STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 10, 2002, following a national search, Teresa Chambers was
selected to serve as the first female Chief of the United States Park Police (USPP)
in our Nation’s history. (A435). The USPP force is a component of the National
Park Service (NPS), which is a sub-agency of the U.S. Department of the Interior
(DOI).

Chambers received neither a position description nor any training upon
entering the Federal service. Additionally, she has never received a performance
evaluation as a Federal employee. (A2538; A1177; A1185; and A219 - A220)

In March of 2003, an incident often described as “Tractor Man” occurred on
National Park Service property between Constitution and Independence Avenues.

During the 36-hour ordeal, Chambers kept her superiors updated on the progress of



the situation and, in fact, was called in by DOI Secretary Gale Norton for a
personal briefing. (A71)

In March 2003, the USPP, under Chambers’ direction, submitted their
“budget call” information for Fiscal Year 2005 (FY ’05) in the amount of
approximately $42 million. (A1614.1) It became clear to Chambers in the
Summer of 2003 that the USPP would be facing a dire fiscal crisis in Fiscal Year
2004, and she recognized that it was her obligation to alert her supervisors to the
situation and the possible ramifications. She immediately began doing so. (A71 -
A73)

On June 5, 2003, Larry Parkinson, DOI Deputy Assistant Secretary for Law
Enforcement and Security in the Department of the Interior, asked Chambers to
meet with him regarding budget matters. (A74)

During this June 5, 2003, meeting, Chambers and her team learned for the
first time that the NPS budget proposal for the USPP for FY 2005 had gone
forward to the DOI Budget Office without any conversation with Pamela Blyth (a
member of the Chief’s command staff responsible for budget oversight) or the
Chief. (A74) The USPP $42 million enhancement submission had been reduced

to approximately a $3 million enhancement request to the DOI.



On June 12, 2003, Chambers called her supervisor, Donald Murphy, to see if
he had been able to resolve a psychological testing issue involving USPP Deputy
Chiefs Beam and Pettiford. Murphy advised Chambers that he had discussed the
matter with the Office of the Solicitor representative and had decided to require the
Deputy Chiefs to take these tests, even though they had been hired more than one
year earlier. (A2390)

On June 13, 2003, Chambers notified Beam and Pettiford that Murphy had
decided that they should take the entrance-level psychological examination and
that he would be meeting with each of them to explain his rationale. (A498,;
A1616.1; A2390; and A2561.4)

On July 10, 2003, Chambers met with members of the Organization of
American States (OAS) following a letter dated June 19, 2003, that James Harding,
Assistant Secretary for Management, OAS, sent to Chambers asking for the
opportunity to meet about the “Shelter in Place” program, which Harding described
as “very positive.” (A2395) Atno time did anyone complain about any incident,
and no one asked for a follow-up meeting or conversation as a result of this

gathering. (A2395; A1764; and A1788)



Sometime after July 10, Randolph J. Myers, Senior Attorney, Office of the
Solicitor, scheduled a meeting with someone on Chambers’ staff to meet with
Chambers on July 30, 2003. (A2395)

The July 30 meeting did not occur. Chambers’ Executive Officer,
Lieutenant Phillip Beck, recalled that either he or Chambers’ secretary, Sharon
Stephenson, made “subsequent tries” to reschedule the meeting with Mr. Myers but
that the meeting was never rescheduled. (A1804 - A1805)

During his interview with Hoffman, Murphy stated, “I don’t recall speaking
with her [Chambers] directly about this instance.” (A2536 - A2537)

On August 5, 2003, Chambers attended meetings with Murphy, Parkinson,
and NPS Director Fran Mainella to discuss budget challenges. During the meeting
with Parkinson, DOI Assistant Secretary Manson confirmed that, despite any
challenges or shortfalls, the USPP must continue to staff at Department-mandated
levels at the icon locations. (A87 - A88; and A1415)

On August 8, 2003, Murphy informed Chambers for the first time of his
intent to “detail” Pamela Blyth and assured Chambers that Blyth would work
directly for him and that he would mentor her. Murphy provided no anticipated
date that this assignment would begin. (A436 - A437; A2654 - A2663; and

A2680)



Chambers expressed her concern to Murphy that the USPP would be unable
to cover Blyth’s duties if she were moved from her regular position at that
particular time. (A2677 - A2678; A2681; and A437-438)

Sometime after learning about the Blyth detail, Officer Jeff Capps (USPP
FOP Labor Committee Chairman), telephoned DOI Deputy Secretary Griles
without prior notification to Chambers, and left a voice mail advising Griles that
things were awry within the USPP and urging Griles to call Chambers. Capps then
telephoned Chambers and alerted her that he had contacted Griles to have him call
Chambers regarding an urgent matter. (A563)

When Chambers and Griles spoke, she explained that, although Murphy had
originally agreed to allow Blyth to work on her assignments with the USPP while
also participating in her assignment in his office, he had most recently told Blyth
that she would be working full time for Michael Brown of the NPS Strategic
Planning Office and that Blyth was to report Monday, August 25, 2003, to begin
this assignment.

Later, Griles called Chambers and reversed Blyth’s transfer. He assured
Chambers that Assistant Secretary Manson would get involved in working to
resolve the issues of public safety and security and protection of the icons raised by

her. (A95 - A96)



On August 28, 2003, Griles held a meeting with Chambers, Mainella,
Murphy (who left after about five minutes), and Assistant Secretary Manson. Prior
to Chambers being invited into the meeting, Griles met with these individuals and
others about the issue of his reversing Blyth’s transfer and about the USPP budget
shortages. (A567 - A569) In the meeting, the participants reviewed, among other
things, the general issue of budgetary and staffing challenges the USPP was facing.
Chambers shared with Griles, Mainella, and Manson that she believed that the icon
parks were in danger due to limited resources and that, while she respected
Mainella and Murphy, she had a greater obligation to the Secretary, the President
of the United States, and the American people to not stand silently by and watch
something catastrophic occur. (A98)

On September 29, 2003, Chambers attended a meeting with members of the
National Academy of Public Administrations’s (NAPA) consulting team who were
clearly pleased upon learning from her of the progress she had made toward the
implementation of 20 recommendations NAPA had made regarding the USPP in
2001. In that meeting, in the presence of Mainella and Murphy, the NAPA team
leader suggested strongly that Chambers contact Deborah Weatherly, a senior
Congressional staff member of the House Interior Appropriations Committee, to let

her know how successful Chambers had been up to that point in time. The NAPA



team leader told Chambers that Weatherly was the person who had asked the
NAPA team to return. (A103)

On November 3, 2003, Chambers telephoned Weatherly. Chambers
intended to ask Weatherly for clarification regarding who was to pay for the
upcoming NAPA report. Chambers left a brief telephone message for Weatherly.
(A109)

When Weatherly returned Chambers’ call, they had a pleasant conversation.
Chief Chambers first explained to Weatherly why she had originally called and
told her that, in the meantime, she (Chambers) had received an answer to her
question. (A2561.2 - A2561.3) Weatherly then asked Chambers “What’s going on
over there?” and inquired as to the progress (or what Weatherly believed was a
lack of progress) regarding the NAPA recommendations of 2001. Chief Chambers
provided Weatherly with a general overview of the progress that had been made
toward the implementation of the NAPA goals. (A2561.2 - A2561.3)

On November 6, 2003, Chambers was summoned to Murphy’s office with
no explanation as to the topic. He asked if she had called Weatherly and, upon
Chambers’ confirmation, told her that he found it “highly inappropriate” and asked
for a detailed explanation as to the content of the conversation. After explaining to

Murphy the substance of her conversation with Weatherly, Murphy simply left his



office to go to another meeting without reacting to what Chambers had told him
and without providing any direction as to his expectations in the future. (A109 -
A110; and A2363)

On Thursday, November 20, 2003, Chambers was interviewed by a reporter
from The Washington Post regarding information he had been provided by the
Chairman of the USPP FOP Labor Committee, Officer Jeff Capps. The reporter
asked Chambers to react and respond to various data he had with regard to USPP
staffing and budget. (A114 - A115)

Immediately upon concluding the interview, Chambers telephoned Murphy
and notified him of the detailed information the reporter had and the type of
questions she had been asked. In response, Murphy characterized the interview as
“no big deal.” (A115 and A503 - A504)

On Monday, November 24, 2003, Chambers received a telephone call from
John Wright, the press officer for DOI Secretary Norton. He asked her about the
interview with The Washington Post and about the type of questions she was
asked, the type of answers she provided, and the extent of the information with
which the reporter was armed. After hearing from Chambers, Wright informed her
that she was to remain the sole contact and spokesperson for the DOI on this

matter. (A116)
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On Wednesday, November 26, 2003, a scheduled day off for Chambers, a
nationwide conference call was conducted within the NPS that included Mainella,
both deputy directors, all regional directors and their budget officers, all associate
directors, the USPP Assistant Chief of Police (the #2 position in the organization),
and the USPP Budget Officer. The conference call was in reference to OMB’s FY
2005 passback. (A2561.1)

During that conference call, according to Assistant Chief Benjamin J.
Holmes and Budget Officer Shelly Thomas, in response to a Regional Director’s
concern over limited funding for the USPP, Murphy went “into a tirade” blaming
Chambers for the USPP not having sufficient funds. Murphy publicly accused
Chambers of never responding when asked about budget matters nor cooperating
in the budget process. (A117; A1630 - A1636; and A1687 - A1696)

None of these concerns had ever been conveyed to Chambers and are simply
untrue. (A117)

Mainella, who was present in the same room with Murphy and witnessed
Murphy’s comments during the conference call, assured Chambers that she
(Mainella) had spoken with Murphy immediately after the conference call and that

she told him that what he had done was improper. (A119)

11



In the early morning hours of December 2, 2003 (1:20 a.m.), Chambers
wrote to Weatherly to seek her counsel on how to better inform members of
Congress and OMB about the progress of the USPP with regard to NAPA
recommendations. Chambers also alerted her to the dangerous situation that
currently existed and would continue to grow if the USPP continued to be without
adequate funding. (A692 - A693)

Chambers participated in a live interview with WTOP News Radio during
her commute to work that morning. Soon after arriving at Police Headquarters
(shortly after 9 a.m.), Chambers also participated in a number of taped film
interviews with various news stations, and she engaged in at least one live “talk
back” with a local television station. Most, and perhaps all, of these taped
interviews were used during noon newscasts and again during the evening
newscasts. (A123 - A124)

On December 2, 2003, at approximately 3 p.m., the same day that The
Washington Post article appeared and the media interviews described above were
conducted, LT. Beck, the Executive Officer for the Office of the Chief, hand
delivered to Mainella’s office a sealed envelope which contained a typewritten
complaint Chambers had prepared the previous evening regarding the conduct of

Murphy and another NPS employee, Steve Krutz. (A124 and A1784)

12



Chambers received no reply from Mainella concerning her letter of
complaint regarding Murphy’s misconduct, and Mainella took no action to see that
the alleged misconduct was investigated. (A124)

At approximately 6 p.m. on Tuesday, December 2, 2003, Chambers was
ordered by Murphy to cease all interviews of any kind and to not discuss the
“President’s budget.” These orders were issued electronically while Chambers
was conducting a meeting with officers at the USPP District 4 substation. (A124 -
A125; A2223; and A2224)

The following day, Murphy sent another email alerting Chambers that he
and Mainella wanted to meet with Chambers and Holmes on Friday, December 5,
2003, at 4 p.m. to discuss what he described as “general USPP issues.” (A125)

On December 5, 2003, Chambers and Assistant Chief Holmes arrived in
Mainella’s office suite as instructed and were told by Murphy that he would be
with them in a few minutes. A few minutes later, DOI attorney Teufel arrived
along with three armed special agents. Teufel and one of the armed special agents
went into Murphy’s office and the two other armed special agents stationed
themselves outside of Murphy’s doorway (one on either side) as if to guard the

door. (A130 and A1739 - A1742)

13



Chambers was told to come into the office. Holmes was told to wait outside
of the office. Chambers asked where Mainella was and was told by Murphy that
Mainella would not be present and that Chambers could not see her. (A130 -
A131)

Murphy handed Chambers a memo and told her she was being placed on
administrative leave. (A687) She was directed to turn over her badge and gun to
one of the armed special agents. (A131 and A133)

After being returned to her office by two special agents, turning over her cell
phone, pager and other communication devices, Chambers was left to find her own
way home — in uniform and without a weapon — placing her in personal danger.
(A490 - A491)

On December 12, 2003, Chambers attended a meeting at the request of
Murphy and attorney Teufel. When the parties met on that date, the Agency
indicated that they were willing to withhold placing charges of any kind against
Chambers and would also be willing to bring her back to work immediately
provided she was willing to agree to adhere to a number of stipulations including
her agreement that she would obtain prior approval from Murphy or his designee

before engaging in any contact with the media or with a member of Congress or

14



any Congressional staff member (both the contact and the content of the proposed
conversations had to be approved ahead of time). (A135 - A136)

Chambers declined to agree to this stipulation since that would have made it
impossible for her to function effectively as a Chief of Police (for example,
response to the media’s inquiries about crime scenes such as in the Chandra Levy
case) and because it would impede Chambers’ lawful right and obligation to
communicate with Congress. No other prior Chief of the USPP had ever had such a
gag order imposed upon them. (A136 - A137)

On December 18, 2003, six days after refusing to agree to these stipulations,
Chambers received a memorandum from Murphy dated December 17, 2003,
placing charges against her and recommending her termination. (A679 - A686)

On January 9, 2004, Chambers formally responded to the proposed
termination. (A2357-A2412)

On July 9, 2004, DOI issued its decision terminating Chambers. (A2552 -

A2561) The challenges to this decision followed leading to this appeal.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
The DOI failed to establish that Teresa Chambers engaged in misconduct

during her tenure as Chief of the U.S. Park Police. The Agency also failed to meet

15



its burden of proof on four of the six charges sustained by the Administrative
Judge and MSPB. The AJ and Board erred in failing to properly apply the burden
of proof as the record does not support their conclusions.

The AJ and Board erred by failing to properly apply the requirements of 5
U.S.C. §§ 1221, 2302(b)(8) (whistleblower provisions). The Board erred in
determining that Chambers failed to state a proper whistleblower claim. The law
and evidence strongly contradict the determinations of the AJ and Board on this
issue.

Finally, the DOI violated Chambers’ pre-termination due process rights in
failing to comply with the requirements set forth in the Supreme Court’s decision
in Loudermill and this Circuit’s decision in Stone. The AJ and Board erred in

failing to find any violation of Chambers’ rights to pre-termination due process.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review that this Circuit applies when reviewing decisions of
the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB or Board) is stated in 5 U.S.C. §
7703(c).

The Federal Circuit's statutory review of the substance of Board
decisions is limited to determining whether they are unsupported by

16



substantial evidence or are "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." 5 U.S.C. §
7703(c).
United States Postal Serv. v. Gregory, 534 U.S. 1, 6 (2001).
B. The Board and AJ Erred in Sustaining Charge 2 alleging Chief
Chambers made public remarks regarding security on the
Federal mall, and in parks and on the parkways in the
Washington, D.C. metropolitan area because DOI Failed to Prove
Misconduct
When an agency takes action to remove an employee from federal service
for alleged misconduct, it has the burden of proving the charges against the
employee. Hale v. Department of Transp., Federal Aviation Admin., 772 F.2d
882, 885 (Fed. Cir. 1985). It is the agency’s burden not only to prove the charges
of misconduct, but to also establish a nexus between the conduct complained of
and the efficiency of the service and establish that the penalty was reasonable. Id.
With these principles in mind, we address the charges leveled against Teresa
Chambers.
The AJ and Board erroneously sustained DOI’s charge number 2. Charge 2
alleges that Chief Chambers disclosed to the Washington Post security sensitive
information. However, this charge fails to state a legal basis for misconduct.

Public remarks regarding “security” are nowhere prohibited in the DOI policies

and no rule or order classified in any manner the information attributed to

17



Chambers in the Post. No such purported rule or order was identified or produced
by DOI. The Agency does not have a definition of “law enforcement sensitive”
information and Chief Chambers was authorized to decide what law enforcement
material may be released to the public. There must be an announced policy that
was violated to support Agency disciplinary action against an employee. See 43
C.F.R. §20.503.

In support of its position, the DOI offered only a report (not an order, policy
or a rule) that had been stamped “law enforcement sensitive” by one of Chief
Chambers’ subordinates, for reasons that were not established by the DOI in the
record. This report contains a lot of information, and it is unclear which
information the subordinate officer desired to protect. Agency officials admitted
that not all material in documents marked sensitive is sensitive.'

DOI offered no evidence beyond self-serving conclusory opinions

demonstrating that Chief Chambers’ interview with the Washington Post

' MSPB Member Sapin, who filed a dissenting opinion in this case,
noted that the statements about icon staffing attributed to Chambers were
substantially different from the type of information in the purported “law
enforcement sensitive” document. “Because of the sensitive nature of the
document, and because the document is under seal, I will not describe its
contents specifically. However, it does include far more detailed
information which is substantially different from that included in the
appellant's statements concerning "icon" staffing. Sealed Document at 10-
11,13, 15-20.” ABS.
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compromised any legitimate security interest. The information Chief Chambers
disclosed referenced only facts that were in plain sight. Police staffing details were
provided to the Post by the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP), not Chief Chambers,
who simply responded honestly to questions from the Post regarding information
the Post already possessed. Assistant Chief Holmes testified that numbers and
placement of officers that are stationed at monuments in plain sight, which is what
Chief Chambers is attributed as saying in the post article, is not a matter that is
sensitive or prohibited from release. A1761-1762.

DOI press officer John Wright was unaware of any written Agency policy
prohibiting the release of any categories on information including so-called “Law
Enforcement Sensitive” information. Wright stated that he is not aware of any
policy definition regarding “law enforcement sensitive,” has received no training
on it, and would not know what information was “LES” unless someone told him.
A1913-1916. Wright admitted that the policy requirement is that DOI officials
contact the public affairs/ communications office before a press interview if
possible, and if not possible, promptly thereafter. The policy does not limit the
content or substance of what is to be said to the media. A1851-1852.

Moreover, the DOI failed to confirm what Chambers actually stated to the

Washington Post about purported “security sensitive” or other information. The
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AJ and Board erred when they sustained the charges involving Chambers’ alleged
statements to the Post without following Board precedent requiring that
communications to the media be confirmed. See, e.g., George M. Barresi, et al. v.
United States Postal Service, 65 M.S.P.R. 656; 1994 MSPB LEXIS 1771 (1994).

It would not place an undue burden upon agency officials to require

them to do more than read a newspaper before deciding to indefinitely

suspend an employee. Accordingly, we find that in making a

reasonable cause determination, an agency cannot rely on media

reports alone, without some form of independent verification.

[footnote omitted]

Barresi, 65 M.S.P.R. 656; 1994 MSPB LEXIS 1771 , *7 - *8.

Most of the cited portions of the Washington Post interview were
paraphrases by the reporter, not direct quotes from Chief Chambers. Quotes, of
course, may be erroneous. DOI officials did not confirm with Sgt. Scott Fear, who
was present for the Post interview, or Chambers, what was actually said and by
whom before taking action against Chambers to place her on administrative leave
and propose her removal.

DOTI’s final decision maker, Paul Hoffman, relied on the affidavit of Agency
press officer John Wright. A1001-1002. However, Hoffman’s reliance on Wright

is misplaced. Wright admitted in his deposition that the Post reporter and the

editor to whom he spoke provided only limited information and, at some point
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before he could ask all the questions on his list, the conversations were unilaterally
terminated by the Post staff. See, A1895-1896. Wright asked the Post only what
he was given to ask by an agency attorney(s). A1887. Wright did not ask the Post
whether Chief Chambers stated she was asking for $7 million for a new helicopter
or stated she was asking for a total of $27 Million or more. A1931. Wright did not
ask whether the FOP gave certain information to the Post and acknowledged (after
initially not recalling and then being confronted with emails) that he had been put
on notice months prior to his inquiry that the FOP had initiated the Post article by
complaining to the Post of funding shortfalls. A1943-1945.

Wright further admitted that there may be drafts of his affidavit that noted
the qualification that several questions he intended to ask about statements in the
Post article were never asked or answered because the Post reporter cut the
interview short and refused to answer further questions and referred Wright to the
reporter’s editor. The editor refused to answer those remaining questions as well
and referred Wright to the Post’s attorney who Wright declined to call. A1895-
1896.

Wright acknowledged that he had not made an inquiry with the Post
regarding Chambers’ statements until February or March, 2004, and no one had

asked him to do so prior to that time. A1903-1904. Thus, his inquiry for the
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Agency to attempt to verify Ms. Chambers’ statements to the Post was initiated
well after the Agency had already proposed Ms. Chambers’ removal.

Finally, the dissenting Member of the MSPB provided a similar analysis of
charge 2 and determined that “the agency has not shown by preponderant evidence
that the appellant disclosed the number of unarmed security guards that would
‘begin serving around the monuments in the next few weeks.” “ A47. Overall, the
Dissent found that the record did not establish that Chief Chambers had engaged in
the misconduct stated in the charge.

The record lacks substantial evidence to support charge 2 and the AJ and
Board misapplied the legal standard requiring that the agency establish by a
preponderance of evidence that it prove the charge and also establish a nexus
between the conduct complained of and the efficiency of the service . Hale, 772
F.2d at 885. For the reasons discussed, the Court should reverse the AJ’s and
Board’s decisions to sustain charge 2.

C. The Board and AJ Erred in Sustaining Charge 6 alleging a failure
to follow the chain-of-command because DOI Failed to Prove
Misconduct

The AJ and Board erred in sustaining DOI’s charge number 6. Charge 6
alleges that Chief Chambers failed to follow the chain of command in appealing to

the Deputy Secretary to stop the imminent detail by Murphy of Pamela Blyth out
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of the Chief’s Executive Command Staff. The Agency had no policy prohibiting
Chief Chambers from appealing to her second level of higher superiors including
the Deputy Secretary, and thus the charge fails to state an offense — a violation of
any rule. As noted previously, there must be an announced policy that was
violated to support disciplinary action. See 43 C.F.R. § 20.503.

Deputy Secretary Griles did not object to Chambers approaching him on the
matter (and in fact granted her request to stop the detail of Blyth). Griles had
actually encouraged Chambers to speak directly with him regarding U.S. Park
Police matters even after Chambers expressed she was uncomfortable speaking
directly with the Deputy Secretary because of the possible reaction of her
immediate superiors Murphy and Mainella. A*** See Chambers Affidavit.
Further, Chambers made a good faith effort to exhaust the chain of command on
the issue of Blyth’s detail before appealing to Griles. A88-90.

Charge 6 was yet another charge brought well after the fact of the events in
question, reflecting retaliatory motive on Murphy’s part rather than misconduct on
Chambers’ part. In fact, this issue regarding the Blyth detail and Chambers’ use of
the chain of command had already been resolved by Griles. Griles called a
meeting shortly after the Blyth detail was cancelled that included the members of

Chief Chambers’ chain of command. See, A567-569. Griles testified that he
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thought the meeting had resolved the issue. Id. The resolution emanating from
that meeting called by Griles was supposed to have been a series of follow-up
meetings between Chief Chambers and her chain of command but these follow-up
meetings never occurred due to inaction by Chambers’ superiors. See, A570-571.
Griles did not direct that any discipline be taken against Chambers for having
appealed to him on the Blyth detail and was unaware that action had been taken
against Chambers on that basis by his subordinates. A569.

Thus, the Board’s decision to affirm the AJ’s decision sustaining charge 6 is
unsupported by substantial evidence, is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(c). This
Court must reverse the Board’s decision with instructions to find that charge 6 is

not sustained.’

* The dissenting opinion of Board Member Sapin also finds that the
agency failed to prove that Chambers acted improperly in bringing her
concerns to Griles. A52.
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D. The Board and AJ Erred in Sustaining Charge 5 alleging a failure
to carry out a supervisor's instructions because DOI Failed to
Prove Misconduct
(1) The DOI failed to meet its burden regarding the
specification of Charge S alleging Chief Chambers’ failure
to follow an instruction to have two deputy chiefs take
medical exams

The AJ and Board erred in sustaining the specification of charge 5 regarding
Chambers’ alleged failure to follow an instruction from Murphy to have two
deputy Chiefs take psychological examinations. The chronology of events and
time frames established by DOI’s documents and Murphy’s own testimony
establish that not only did the deputy Chiefs agree to take the exams in question,
they did so shortly after the first direction from Murphy. A297-302.

Chambers had sought to recuse herself from the decision process to have the
two deputies take these exams and communicated this request to Agency counsel.
A2750-2752. Chambers informed Agency counsel that she was concerned that
she might not be the proper person to make the decision on the psychological
exams which were, at the time, the subject of an OSC inquiry because of her prior
involvement. The Agency counsel communicated Chambers’ concern to Murphy's
office. Id. Within 10 days after that communication, Murphy issued a directive to

the deputies, which they promptly honored. A2757. There is nothing in the

sequence of events established in the record that shows any actionable misconduct
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by Chambers. Thus, any delay that did occur would not have been the result of
misconduct but rather an attempt to avoid a potential conflict of interest or biased
decision, or the appearance of same.

The record does reflect that Chambers expressed her opinion about the issue
of the need for these deputy Chiefs to take these exams, or whether a waiver might
be appropriate as had been done for the Chief herself, while the matter was under
consideration. Agency regulations permit employees to state their concerns and
disagreements while a matter is under consideration. See 43 C.F.R. § 20.502;
Berube v. GS4,30 M.S.P.R. 581, 592 (1986), vacated on other grounds, 820 F.2d
396 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (as long as senior executives perform their duties and do not
engage in actionable misconduct, their disagreements with policy decisions may
not form the basis for adverse actions against them).

There is simply no credible basis in the record to uphold this specification in
support of charge 5.° The Court should reverse the Board’s and AJ’s decision on
this issue as unsupported by substantial evidence, arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of

discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(c).

* This specification is thoughtfully analyzed by MSPB Member Sapin
in her dissent. A52-53.
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(2) The DOI failed to meet its burden regarding the specification of
Charge 5 alleging Chief Chambers’ failure to follow an
instruction to detail Pamela Blyth

Next, the AJ and Board erred in sustaining the specification of charge 5
regarding Chief Chambers’ alleged failure to follow an instruction from Deputy
Director Murphy to detail Pamela Blyth. Blyth worked in the Chief’s Executive
Command Staff and at the time she was performing critical budget and other tasks
for the Chief. DOI did not establish via record evidence that a clear
communication from Murphy to Chambers was ever given to the effect that
Chambers was to detail Blyth (rather than what the record shows which is that
Murphy was himself going to detail Blyth).

Deputy Secretary Griles, Murphy’s superior, countermanded Murphy’s
decision to detail Blyth when Chambers brought the matter to his attention. A313.
The fact that Murphy’s superior agreed to review the question and take it under
consideration, eventually agreeing with Chambers and countermanding Murphy’s
decision, means that the matter was still under consideration by the Agency and
thus pursuant to Agency regulation, Chambers was acting appropriately in voicing
her opinion on the matter to Griles. Had Griles said “no I will not consider the

issue and Murphy’s decision is final”, a different question would be presented.

That is not the record in this case, however.
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Thus, Chambers did not violate any rule, policy, or order given by a
superior. To the contrary, she voiced a legitimate concern about the timing of the
detail proposed for Blyth and was supported by Deputy Secretary Griles. The
record simply does not support this specification and the Court should reverse the
decisions by the Board and AJ sustaining this portion of charge 5.

(3) The DOI failed to meet its burden regarding the specification of
Charge 5 alleging Chief Chambers’ failure to follow an
instruction to cooperate with DOI attorney Myers

As with the other two specifications, the AJ and Board erred in sustaining
the specification of charge 5 regarding Chambers’ alleged failure to follow an
instruction from Murphy to cooperate with Randy Myers, an attorney in the DOI,
regarding an alleged complaint lodged against the Park Police by the Organization
of American States (OAS). Chambers’ Executive Officer, Lieutenant Phillip Beck,
recalled as he testified in his sworn deposition that either he or Chief Chambers’
secretary, Sharon Stephenson, made “subsequent tries” to reschedule the meeting
with Mr. Myers but that the meeting was never rescheduled. A1804-1805. LT.
Beck also stated in his sworn deposition that he recalled seeing a document from

Randolph Myers withdrawing his request for a meeting with Chambers. A1804.

* This specification is thoughtfully analyzed by MSPB Member Sapin
in her dissent. A49-53.
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Murphy admitted in the deposition conducted by Hoffman that Murphy
could not recall giving Chambers the order or instruction alleged to have been
violated in this specification of charge 5. A2536-2537.

Further, Myers failed to disclose in his testimony that he eventually did
meet with Chambers and DOI attorney Hugo Tuefel well before Murphy made this
charge against Chambers in the proposed removal. See A2787-2788. The AJ’s
reliance on Myers’ testimony was misplaced because as a whole his testimony and
prior statements were inconsistent, beyond his failure to admit his meeting with
Chambers. During his testimony during the MSPB hearing, Myers described the
limited contact he had with Murphy regarding the matter for which Chambers was
charged under Charge 5, Specification 3. A53-54.

Not only is there no “OAS complaint dated July 10,” Myers testified that he
has never seen a written complaint, even though he wrote the September 15, 2003,
memorandum as if he had seen a complaint dated July 10, 2003. Likewise,
Assistant Chief Holmes and LT. Beck both testified in their depositions that they
did not believe there was any type of complaint made by representatives of the
OAS. A1764-1765, A1787-1788.

The AJ and Board further erred in regard to this specification of charge 5 in

relying on an Inspector General’s memo, Agency Exhibit 2, which was relied on
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by the AJ as circumstantial evidence of an alleged “pattern” of the Chief not
cooperating with inquiries about the “Tractor Man” incident. This document was
an exhibit the Agency did not offer into evidence and which would have been
improper for the Agency to offer because the Agency knew the memo from the IG
was based on a misunderstanding by the IG regarding a report submitted by
Chambers for one purpose which the IG misconstrued as a report sent for another
purpose, as explained in Ms. Chambers’ deposition. A2783-2787.°
E. The Board and AJ Erred in Sustaining Charge 3 alleging Chief
Chambers improperly disclosed the President’s budget
deliberations because DOI Failed to Prove Misconduct
The Board and AJ erroneously sustained DOI’s charge 3. Charge 3 alleges
that Chambers made an improper disclosure to the Washington Post of specific
budget numbers submitted by the Agency in the President’s budget in violation of
an OMB Circular. However, the Agency failed to meet its burden of proof by
failing to establish that Chambers stated a budget amount for a given purpose
found in the President’s budget to the Post. DOI never offered evidence of a

President’s budget document which contained any of the amounts for the purposes

> Dissenting Member Sapin similarly dispatches with this

specification finding that the agency failed to meet its burden or proof.
A53-54.
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stated by Chambers to the Post. Chambers did not state to the Post that the Agency
had requested $8 million dollars for a total USPP budget increase, but instead, as
the record reflects, stated in response to questions from the Post reporter that she
needed approximately a $27 million increase for FY 05 for the Park Police to
properly perform its mission of protecting the public and icons.°
The DOI’s charge does not assert the existence of or identify any budget document
that contains the numbers Chambers is said by the Post to have mentioned.
Because the Agency failed to produce any such document at trial which fell within
the parameters of the policy prohibition in the charge against Chambers, i.e., the
Agency failed to produce a President’s budget document reflecting a request of $8
Million or any other amount that matched the number and purpose reflected in
Chambers’ statements to the Post, there is no objective record evidence supporting
the charge.

Absent production by the Agency of a specific document representing the

President’s budget decisions that references a specific budget amount for a specific

¢ The dissenting opinion by Board Member Sapin finds that the DOI
failed to prove that Chambers revealed budget information in violation of
OMB Circular A-11 (2003). A48-49. Specifically, Member Sapin concludes
that the record shows that during her interview with the Post Chambers
was referring to her own wishes for a budget increase and not specific
budget numbers provided in a budget document. A49.
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purpose that matches the budget amount and purpose allegedly stated by Chambers
to the Post, the Agency cannot establish a violation of the referenced OMB
Circular. Chambers may not be punished for discussing the Park Police budget
needs generally or in ways not restricted by OMB. As noted regarding Charge 2
above, there must be an announced policy that was violated to support Agency
disciplinary action against an employee. See 43 C.F.R. § 20.503.

F. The Board Erred as a Matter of Law in Concluding That the DOI

Pre-termination Decision Process Was Not Contrary to Law

1. The Extensive Material Ex Parte Communications with the
DOI Final Decision Maker Violated Appellant’s Rights

Appellant argued before the AJ and Board that DOI’s removal decision
process violated her pre-termination due process and procedural rights recognized
in Stone v. F.D.1.C., 179 F.3d 1368 (Fed. Cir. 1999) and Cleveland Board Of
Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985). It is undisputed that Appellant is a
federal employee who was not a term employee or at-will, and could only be
discharged for cause. Thus, Appellant had a protected property interest in her
federal employment.

The facts of DOI decisionmaker Hoffman’s extensive ex parte interviews are
beyond dispute. A2413-2551. The issue of whether Hoffman’s ex parte

interviews violated Appellant’s due process rights, i.e. whether the AJ and Board
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misconstrued and misapplied the rules of law set out in Stone and Loudermill to the
record facts regarding these ex parte communications, is an issue of law. The
standard of review is de novo.

The AJ rejected Appellant’s due process arguments. A20-21. The Board
ignored these issues, providing no analysis or decision on them beyond footnote 3:

As to the appellant's remaining defenses, we see no error
in the administrative judge's findings that would affect
the outcome of this case. See Panter v. Department of
the Air Force, 22 M.S.P.R. 281, 282 (1984) (an
adjudicatory error that is not prejudicial to a party's
substantive rights provides no basis for reversal of an
initial decision).

A24,57 (emphasis added). But procedural due process violations are not subject to
a harmless error test.

[W]hen a procedural due process violation has occurred
because of ex parte communications, such a violation is
not subject to the harmless error test. See Sullivan v.
Department of the Navy, 720 F.2d 1266, 1274 (Fed. Cir.
1983); Ryder v. United States, 585 F.2d 482, 488 (Ct. Cl.
1978) (refusing to apply harmless error test: "... the
defect divests the removal (or demotion) of legality,
leaving the employee on the rolls ... and entitled to his
pay until proper procedural steps are taken ... . In
that situation, the merits of the adverse action are
wholly disregarded."); Camero v. United States, 375
F.2d 777, 780 (Ct. CI1. 1967).
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Stone v. F.D.1.C., 179 F.3d 1368, 1377 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (emphasis added). Thus, if
the Board did find the AJ to be in error on this due process issue and found that a
violation occurred, the Board could not properly find that such error would not
"affect the outcome." Footnote three indicates the Board may have so erred.

The alternative reading is that the Board adopted the AJ’s determination that
the DOI's decision process did not violate the rules set out in Stone and Loudermill.

In this instance, the Board’s final decision would be still be arbitrary and contrary
to law because the record reflects undisputed facts that demonstrate such
violations.

The AJ did find that ex parte "interviews" were conducted by Hoffman after
Appellant had responded to the DOI notice of proposed remo